89529-5

NO. 68264-4-I

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

DAVID A. FALSBERG,

Petitioner,

INTRODUCTION

The appellate court misapprehended the main issue, erroneously stating that "David Falsberg asks this court to expand the existing Washington drug manufacturer warning standards to include diagnostic tips for any physician who may treat complications from the use of the drug." Slip. Op. 1. Rather, David asked – and now asks this Court – whether summary judgment was improper where, as here, three experts (including David's treating physician) opined that this warning label is not only inadequate, but false and misleading?

David also raised an important issue of first impression: should our courts adopt the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TORTS: PRODUCTS LIABILITY, § 6, requiring adequate and accurate labeling sufficient to warn all treating physicians – not just the prescribing doctor – where, as here, there is an unreasonably high risk of misdiagnosis? The appellate court refused to consider this

question, holding that this is not the right case. But several doctors missed David's diagnosis, and this record contains strong evidence that virtually every doctor initially misses the diagnosis. This warning label is inadequate, false and misleading.

Finally, David asks this Court to address an important issue of potential statutory conflict: is it true, as the appellate court apparently believed, that "accrual" for purposes of the disability tolling statute (RCW 4.16.190(1)) must be synonymous with the date of the physician's last "act or omission alleged to have caused the injury or condition" for purposes of the statute limitations for medical malpractice (RCW 4.16.350(3))? The appellate court essentially wrote "accrual" out of the disability tolling statute.

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) & (4). The appellate decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and of other appellate courts. It also raises important issues of first impression, including potential adoption of the third RESTATEMENT, and an apparent conflict in the medical malpractice statutes that the appellate decision purports to resolve by writing the common-law concept of "accrual" out of the statute. In any event, summary judgment is clearly inappropriate, where three experts opined that GSK's warning label is inaccurate, false and misleading.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the trial court err in ruling that GSK did not have a duty to warn medical providers that rash plus mucosal involvement indicates SJS, where it knew or should have known of the danger of frequently missed diagnoses?
- 2. Did the trial court err in determining that GSK's warnings were "adequate as a matter of law," where several experts opined that they were not only inadequate, but false and misleading?
- 3. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment, where expert opinions raised genuine issues of material fact on whether GSK's warning labels were grossly inadequate and misleading?
- 4. In light of those expert opinions, did the trial court err in determining causation as a matter of law?
- 5. Did the trial court err as a matter of law in failing to give David Falsberg the benefit of the disability-tolling provisions of RCW 4.16.190(1) because his cause of action did not "accrue" at the time of Dr. Conway's last act or omission under RCW 4.16.350?
- 6. Are there genuine issues of material fact on whether and when David Falsberg was an incapacitated person under RCW 11.88.010(1)(a), entitling him to disability tolling under RCW 4.16.190(1)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Doctors frequently misdiagnose SJS/TEN caused by Lamictal because they will likely see only one or two cases in a lifetime and because GSK's warning label is both inadequate and misleading.

The appellate court correctly notes that David contracted Stevens Johnson Syndrome (SJS) and Toxic Epidural Necrosis (TEN) due to defendant psychiatrist Dr. Jack Conway's prescription of Lamictal, an anticonvulsant manufactured and marketed by defendant GlaxoSmithKline (GSK). Slip Op. 2-3. The Court also correctly states that "SJS and TEN are characterized by a rash combined with mucosal involvement, such as bloodshot eyes, sore throat, and other pains involving erosion of the mucous membranes." *Id.* at 2. But the Court nowhere states – because it cannot – that GSK's label gives doctors that simple warning.

The appellate court is far too understated¹ in noting that GSK "was aware of cases in which Lamictal-caused SJS had been misdiagnosed." *Id.* In fact, GSK was aware that SJS and TEN are routinely misdiagnosed. *See, e.g.*, BA 7-14; CP 902, 950-52, 954, 966. GSK knew this (in part) because its own 2005 study, *Risk of Stevens-Johnson Syndrome and Toxic Epidermal Necrolysis in*

¹ Because this is a review of a summary judgment, all facts and reasonable inferences must be taken in the light *most* favorable to David. Slip Op. 4. The appellate court failed to do so here.

New Users of Antiepileptics, identified substantial incidence of misdiagnosis under GSK's existing warning label. BA 13-14.

This GSK research warned that physicians must be given specific information so that they can teach their patients how to distinguish a serious rash from a benign rash. CP 952-53. This information is crucial because – as the appellate court noted – the "conditions are relatively rare and share symptoms with more common diseases." Slip Op. 2. Indeed, a doctor is likely to see only one or two cases in a lifetime. BA 13-14; CP 960. This research was published roughly two years before David's injury, but GSK has never made the recommended changes to its warnings.

But not only is GSK's warning label inadequate, it is also false and misleading. David's treating physician at the Harborview burn unit, Dr. Khandelwal, opined that GSK's warning label is inadequate, false and misleading: while it mentions the risk of SJS in the "black box warning," the last paragraph misleadingly claims that it is not possible to distinguish between benign and life-threatening rashes, which is categorically "false" (CP 966-67):

ALTHOUGH BENIGN RASHES ALSO OCCUR WITH LAMICTAL, IT IS NOT POSSIBLE TO PREDICT RELIABLY WHICH RASHES WILL PROVE TO BE SERIOUS OR LIFE THREATENING. ACCORDINGLY, LAMICTAL SHOULD ORDINARILY BE DISCONTINUED AT THE FIRST SIGN

OF RASH, UNLESS THE RASH IS CLEARLY NOT DRUG RELATED. DISCONTINUATION OF TREATMENT MAY NOT PREVENT A RASH FROM BECOMING LIFE THREATENING OR PERMANENTLY DISABLING OR DISFIGURING.

CP 676 (emphases added).

Indeed, David's treating physician and experts agreed this paragraph is triply misleading. First, it suggests that a physician cannot distinguish a benign from a life-threatening rash; second, it fails to tell a prescribing physician how to make that distinction, as GSK was required to do. CP 902, 903, 951, 954, 955, 966-67, 969. Third, while this warning says one should "ordinarily" discontinue Lamictal at the first sign of rash, it adds the caveat, "unless the rash is clearly not drug related." CP 676. Again, without an explanation of how to distinguish between benign and life-threatening rashes – *i.e.*, look for mucosal involvement – this label is misleading.

B. There are genuine issues of material fact on whether David Falsberg was incapacitated on April 4, 2010, and when his cause of action accrued.

The appellate court notes that Dr. Conway's last negligent act was April 4, 2010, when the Falsbergs called him about David's symptoms. Slip Op. at 2, 11 n.28. It also acknowledges that David was very sick at that time and that he collapsed the next morning. *Id.* at 2-3. David's incapacity is for the jury.

ARGUMENT WHY THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

A. There is (at least) a question of fact on whether GKS's label is false and misleading – as three doctors opined: the appellate decision conflicts with many precedents, applying an unheard of and incorrect legal standard.

Focusing on warnings about SJS/TEN, the appellate decision selectively quotes the warning label. Slip Op. 6-7. But when it reaches the real issue here – whether the label is false and misleading – the appellate court merely states that David "does not present a compelling argument that the label actually contains any false information or misrepresentation," so his claim fails as a matter of law. Slip Op. 8. That is not the correct legal standard.

Whether the label is inadequate or misleading is unquestionably a question of fact for the jury. See, e.g., Little v. PPG Indus. Inc., 92 Wn.2d 118, 122-23, 594 P.2d 911 (1979) (under RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 402, "the court may declare as a matter of law that an adequate warning was not given, but ... in most cases the question is one for the jury"); Bryant v. Technical Research Co., 654 F.2d 1337, 1345 (9th Cir. 1981)

² Similarly, under the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TORTS, § 2, cmt. i, "[w]hether the warning actually given was reasonable in the circumstances is to be decided by the trier of fact." As discussed below, David asked the lower courts to apply this RESTATEMENT, specifically § 6. But even under the old Restatement, the trial and appellate courts contradicted a great deal of law by taking this issue from the jury.

("The adequacy of a warning under products liability is a question of fact to be left to the jury"). Many more cases could be cited for this widely accepted proposition. The appellate decision flies in the face of all of them. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2).

And as the appellate court acknowledges, the facts must be taken in the light most favorable to David. *Id.* at 4 (citing *Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400*, 154 Wn.2d 16, 26, 109 P.3d 805 (2005)). Again, a great many precedents from this and other appellate courts could be cited for this standard. The appellate decision conflicts with all of them. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2).

The facts too are clear: no fewer than three experts – including David's treating physician at the Harborview Burn Unit, Dr. Khandelwal – opined that this label is both false and misleading (CP 902, 951, 966-67): (1) it suggests that physicians cannot distinguish a benign from a life-threatening rash, which is false because mucosal involvement distinguishes a benign rash from SJS; (2) it fails to warn even prescribing physicians to teach their patients how to make that distinction, as GSK's own research enjoins; and (3) it undermines its warning to "ordinarily" discontinue Lamictal at the first sign of rash with a caveat, "unless the rash is clearly not drug related" – again without warning doctors to teach

their patients how to make that distinction. *See, e.g.*, CP 676, 902, 903-04, 951, 954, 955, 966-67, 969. If patients were instructed that rash plus mucosal involvement is SJS, they would know both to stop the drug immediately and to tell any physician whose care they seek that they have SJS, saving them endless pain and suffering, and maybe even saving their lives. *Id*.

An accurate label would have provided information to the prescribing physician to transmit to patients that rash plus mucosal involvement is SJS. The patient would know both to stop the drug immediately and to tell any physician whose care they seek that they have SJS, saving them endless pain and suffering, and maybe even saving their lives. Instead, the label informed both prescribing and treating doctors that there is no way to distinguish between a benign rash and SJS. This false information, according to at least three experts, led to the misdiagnosis of this condition by one or more physicians in virtually every case.

Whether appellate judges find all of this sworn expert testimony "compelling" is irrelevant. Adequacy – and accuracy – are for the jury. The trial and appellate courts applied the wrong legal standard. This Court should grant review and reverse.

Besides failing to acknowledge these genuine issues of material fact, the appellate court entirely relies on *Estate of LaMontagne v. Bristol-Meyers Squibb*, 127 Wn. App. 335, 111 P.3d 857 (2005). Slip Op. 5-8. *LaMontagne* addressed whether a label adequately warned the prescribing physician of the risks the patient suffered. 127 Wn. App. at 337. But there, unlike here, the manufacturer's warnings repeatedly mentioned the relevant contraindications in exhaustive detail. *Id.* at 348-51. Specifically, "the warnings instruct physicians that Glucophage® should not be used in patients with creatinine levels in the upper limit of normal" – precisely injured patient's circumstances. *Id.* at 350-51. Therefore, the warnings were adequate as a matter of law. *Id.*

LaMontagne is not controlling here. It does not address the issue presented: warnings that not only fail to disclose what the manufacturer knew or should have known to be essential information due to the high incidence of misdiagnosis under its existing label (i.e., rash plus mucosal involvement is SJS) but even contained the false and misleading assertion that it is not possible to distinguish between benign and life-threatening rashes. CP 676, 952-53. This label omits critical information – and even contains misleading information – according to GSK's own research.

It is a question of first impression whether summary judgment is appropriate when three qualified experts opine that a warning label is false and misleading. Taking the facts in the light most favorable to David, a jury could agree with these three experts. Nothing in *LaMontagne* or in RESTATEMENT § 402A permits summary judgment here. The Court should grant review.

B. This appeal also presents a question of first impression on whether Washington should adopt the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TORTS: PRODUCTS LIABILITY, § 6.

The appellate court noted that whether a prescription drug manufacturer provides adequate warnings to physicians is governed by the negligence standard under RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 402A, comment k (1965). Slip Op. 4 (citing *Terhune v. A. H. Robins Co.*, 90 Wn.2d 9, 577 P.2d 975 (1978)). But David requested – and the trial and appellate courts rejected – application of the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TORTS: PRODUCTS LIABILITY, § 6:

§ 6 Liability of Commercial Seller or Distributor for Harm Caused by Defective Prescription Drugs and Medical Devices

• • •

(d) A prescription drug or medical device is not reasonably safe due to inadequate instructions or warnings if reasonable instructions or warnings regarding foreseeable risks of harm are not provided to:

(1) prescribing and other health-care providers who are in a position to reduce the risks of harm in accordance with the instructions or warnings;

Comment d further explains this rule (paragraphing added):

Failure to instruct or warn is the major basis of liability for manufacturers of prescription drugs and medical devices. ...

.... [W]arnings of unavoidable risks allow the health-care provider, and thereby the patient, to make an informed choice whether to utilize the drug or medical device.

Beyond informing prescribing health-care providers, a drug or device manufacturer may have a duty under the law of negligence to use reasonable measures to supply instructions or warnings to nonprescribing health-care providers who are in positions to act on such information so as to reduce or prevent injury to patients.

David also cited *McEwen v. Ortho Pharm. Corp.*, 270 Or. 375, 528 P.2d 522 (1974), which this Court cited with approval in *Terhune*, 90 Wn.2d at 13-14. In *McEwen*, plaintiff went partially blind after taking prescribed oral contraceptives. 528 P.2d at 526. The label warnings specifically identified this risk, but falsely discounted it, and (as here) warned doctors to discontinue use only after serious symptoms arose – as the *McEwen* court put it, "the disputed warning advises that the barn door should be closed after the horses have fled." *Id.* at 535-36. The Oregon Supreme Court affirmed a jury verdict in favor of the plaintiff. *Id.* at 544.

McEwen is on-point where, as here, a label is false and misleading.³ **McEwen** notes that drug manufacturers have a duty to warn doctors of any dangerous side effects of which it knows, or should know, a continuous duty requiring manufacturers to keep abreast of scientific developments and supplement its warnings based on information discovered from use of the drug. *Id.* at 528.⁴

Crucially here, this duty extends not only to the prescribing physician, but to "all members of the medical profession who come into contact with the patient in a decision-making capacity." *Id.* at 529. The warnings must be sufficient to apprise both the general practitioner and the "unusually sophisticated medical man' of the dangerous propensities of the drug." *Id.* (citing *Stromsodt*, 411 F.2d at 1400). This is simply because a treating physician facing concerning symptoms "may be more likely to observe the actual symptoms of the drug's untoward consequences" than the doctor who originally prescribed the drug. *Id.* In sum, the manufacturer

³ The appellate court relies on *Terhune*, but it did not involve a false and misleading warning label. Slip Op. 9-10.

⁴ Citing, inter alia, Sterling Drug, Inc. v. Cornish, 370 F.2d 82 (8th Cir. 1966); Parke-Davis & Co. v. Stromsodt, 411 F.2d 1390 (8th Cir. 1969); Stevens v. Parke, Davis & Co., 9 Cal. 3d 51, 107 Cal. Rptr. 45, 507 P.2d 653 (1973); Love v. Wolf, 226 Cal. App. 2d 378, 38 Cal. Rptr. 183 (1964); Krug v. Sterling Drug, Inc., 416 S.W.2d 143 (Mo.1967); 2 RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS 300, § 388 (1965).

has "a duty to warn the medical profession of untoward effects which the manufacturer knows, or has reason to know, are inherent in the use of its drug." *Id.* at 530. (numerous citations omitted). *McEwen* ultimately holds that the jury reasonably found the warnings inadequate, if not misleading. *Id.* at 535-38.

Applying *McEwen* here, there is no question that GSK had a duty to warn doctors of dangers of which it was or should have been aware under the WPLA. RCW 7.72.030(1). Under the same statute, this is a continuing duty, requiring manufacturers to keep abreast of new research — such as the research GSK itself sponsored, reported in the *Nuerology* article authored by its former researcher — and update its warnings as necessary. RCW 7.72.030(1)(c). It is undisputed that GSK failed to do so for two years after the article appeared.

The appellate court refused to apply this modern rule here for two reasons: (1) Washington's learned-intermediary doctrine properly focuses on the prescribing physician; and (2) the facts of this case do not support its application. Slip Op. at 8-11. The first point begs the question, the second misunderstands the facts.

While it is true that the existing learned intermediary doctrine currently focuses on the prescribing physician alone, the question

presented by § 6 is whether it should continue to do so. Extending the doctrine to include all physicians who might encounter a patient suffering an adverse drug reaction in no way limits its existing application to prescribing physicians. Thus, saying the doctrine is currently limited to them begs the question whether it should be.

This leaves only the court's incorrect facts. Inexplicably, the appellate opinion erroneously concludes that this case does not raise the question whether warnings should be given to all treating physicians, rather than just to prescribing physicians. Slip Op. 8-11. But taking the facts in the light most favorable to David, there is no dispute on this record that several doctors failed to diagnose David's SJS/TEN before a dermatologist finally recognized it. CP 227, 907, 967-68. Indeed, the appellate opinion acknowledges this. Slip Op. at 3 ("He was initially misdiagnosed with an upper respiratory infection . . ."). These facts ask whether all treating doctors must be adequately warned – and not misled.

Moreover, not only did numerous treating doctors miss the diagnosis in this case, but failure to diagnose SJ/TEN is endemic. Out of the numerous SJS/TEN patients treating-physician Khandelwal has seen, all of them had previously been evaluated by one or more physicians, and in "virtually every instance . . .

the diagnosis of SJS/TEN was initially missed BY ONE OR MORE PHYSICIANS." CP 966 (bolding added). Similarly, David's expert Dr. Dajani reviewed thousands of GSK-produced records documenting adverse events from the time Lamictal was approved for use until the time David suffered SJS/TEN. CP 950. Fully confirming Dr. Khandelwal's testimony, these records show many clinical reports of patients who had rash plus mucosal involvement and were seen by one or more clinicians who failed to make the SJS or TEN diagnoses. *Id.* It is essential that the label instruct all physicians that if a patient has a rash plus mucosal involvement, they have SJS or TEN. CP 951. It negligently fails to do so, and even misleads treating physicians. CP 953-54.

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