RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Dec 04, 2013, 1:32 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

No. 89529-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID A. FALSBERG,

Appellant,

V.

GLAXOSMITHKLINE, PLC, or GLAXO SMITH KLINE, INC., a foreign corporation, also d/b/a GLAXOSMITHKLINE, L.L.C., GLAXOSMITHKLINE CONSUMER HEALTHCARE, L.P., GLAXOSMITHKLINE BIOLOGICALS, NORTH AMERICA, GLAXOSMITHKLINE CONSUMER HEALTHCARE, L.L.C., and GLAXOSMITHKLINE SERVICES, INC,. and JACK S. CONWAY, M.D.,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY RESPONDENT JACK S. CONWAY, M.D.

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

C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED.

The medical malpractice statute of limitations, RCW 4.16.350 provides in pertinent part:

Any civil action for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care which is provided after June 25, 1976, against ... a physician ... based upon alleged professional negligence shall be commenced within three years of the act or omission alleged to have caused the injury or condition, *or* one year of the time the patient or his or her representative discovered or reasonably should have discovered that the injury or condition was caused by said act or omission, whichever period expires later ... [Emphasis added.]

Thus, the medical statute of limitations sets forth two limitation periods – three years from the last act or omission alleged to have caused the injury or one year after discovery that the injury or condition was caused by the act or omission, with the latter-occurring period being the controlling one.

D. The Court of Appeals Applied Settled Law in Holding that RCW 4.16.350(3) Abandons Common Law "Accrual" For Purposes of the Three-Year Medical Malpractice Limitations Period.

As the Court of Appeals properly recognized, the reason the 1975-76 Legislature amended RCW 4.16.350(3) so that the last negligent act or omission triggers the three-year medical malpractice limitations period was – and, logically, can only have been – to *abandon* accrual-on-discovery triggering of the three-year limitations period:

In enacting RCW 4.16.350, the legislature adopted narrow and specific standards for medical malpractice claims and abandoned common law standards for accrual which had been historically developed to account for discovery of foreign objects that remained latent before causing injury. In Gunnier v. Yakima Heart Center, our Supreme Court held that RCW 4.16.350(3) eliminated the common law concept of accrual from statute of limitations analysis with respect to medical negligence claims, except insofar as the elements of accrual are contained in the concept of "discovery" in RCW 4.16.350(3), which triggers a special one-year statute of limitations. To apply the common law accrual standard to claims of medical negligence by means of RCW 4.16.190 would defeat the clear intent of the legislature to abandon the use of common law accrual in cases governed by RCW 4.16.350. We decline to do so.

Falsberg, 2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 2110 at *19-*20.

Discovery of injury – part of the common law accrual concept – still plays a role for statute of limitations purposes under RCW 4.16.350(3), but that role is only to trigger the *one*-year limitations period, within which Mr. Falsberg did not sue and has never claimed to have sued. Nor could he. On July 21, 2008, Mr. Falsberg first filed suit against Dr.

Conway (which he later voluntarily nonsuited) and, based on the allegations made in that July 2008 complaint, showed that he had "discovered" the essential elements of his claims against Dr. Conway by then. CP 153-60. Yet, he did not file this suit against Dr. Conway until July 12, 2010, well more than one year later.

The Court of Appeals here recognized what this Court recognized some fifteen years ago in *Gunnier v. Yakima Heart Ctr.*, 134 Wn.2d 854, 953 P.2d 1162 (1998):

The three-year period begins to run from "the act or omission alleged to have caused the injury or condition ..." RCW 4.16.350(3). This language clearly does not provide that the limitations period commences with accrual of a cause of action.

Further, history indicates that the Legislature intended to depart from common-law notions of accrual of a tort cause of action.

Gunnier, 134 Wn.2d at 859-60 (emphases added). Mr. Falsberg's petition argues not that the Legislature *cannot* do what it did in 1976, but rather that the Legislature must not have meant to do what the Court of Appeals and the *Gunnier* court have recognized that it "clearly" meant to do. Discretionary review is not warranted under any subdivision of RAP 13.4.

The *three*-year "from act or omission" medical malpractice limitations period (as opposed to the one-year "from discovery" limitations period) has, since 1976, begun to run without regard to "accrual," and thus

without regard to when the patient realized he has an injury, and instead begins to run from the date of the last allegedly negligent act or omission. Thus, it is nonsensical to argue, as Mr. Falsberg does, that the three-year limitations period nonetheless is tolled during a "time of ... disability" based on a statute (RCW 4.16.190(1)) that applies only if the patient was disabled "at the time the cause of action *accrued* [italics added]."

The trial court and the Court of Appeals were correct: the *three*-year statute of limitations began to run on Mr. Falsberg's medical malpractice claim against Dr. Conway on April 4, 2007. Mr. Falsberg's suit against Dr. Conway, which was filed on July 12, 2010, was filed more than a year after Mr. Falsberg discovered his cause of action (and he has never argued otherwise) and more than three years (plus 95 days, to include tolling under the notice of intent to sue provision of RCW 7.70.100(1))⁴ after the last allegedly negligent act by Dr. Conway which occurred on April 4, 2007. Thus, the courts below correctly determined that Mr. Falsberg sued too late.

E. The Court of Appeals Decision Is Not Inconsistent with *Rivas*.

Mr. Falsberg argues, Petition at 19, that the Court of Appeals decision is "inconsistent with" Rivas v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr., 164

⁴ See Laws of 2007, ch. 119, §1. At least with respect to medical malpractice claims against non-public health care providers, the notice of intent to sue provision of RCW 7.70.100(1) was declared unconstitutional in Waples v. Yi, 169 Wn.2d 152, 234 P.3d 187 (2010).

Wn.2d 261, 189 P.3d 753 (2008). It is not, and could not be, because *Rivas* was not a statute of limitations or accrual decision; it addressed a different issue, *i.e.*, whether, to be "incompetent or disabled" for purposes of RCW 4.16.190, a person must have been incapacitated for a long enough period of time for a guardian to have been appointed pursuant to RCW ch. 11.88. This Court answered that question in the negative. While that negative answer may have implications for purposes of applying RCW 4.16.350(3)'s *one*-year limitations period, which is triggered by what amounts to accrual, but it has no implications for purposes of applying RCW 4.16.350(3)'s *three-year* limitations period. *Rivas* nowhere repudiates what the Court held and said in *Gunnier* about "accrual" having been abandoned for purposes of the *three-year* medical malpractice limitations period.

F. The Supreme Court Should Decline to Review the Trial Court's and Court of Appeals' Determinations that There Was No Question of Fact As to Whether Mr. Falsberg Was Disabled on April 4, 2007, Because the Petition Fails to Show that RAP 13.4(b) Criteria Are Met.

Mr. Falsberg's assertion, *Petition at 6*, that when he became disabled "is for the jury" is not accompanied by corresponding legal argument and (a) is not one he preserved in the trial court; (b) is demonstrably incorrect based on the evidence and applicable law of "dis-

ability"; and (c) is not one that warrants consideration on review because his petition does not demonstrate that RAP 13.4(b) criteria are met.

In his briefing to the Court of Appeals, Mr. Falsberg made a perfunctory, nine-line, argument, *App. Br. at 24*, that "substantial factual disputes" existed as to "whether his legal disability coincided with, or preexisted, the moment his cause of action against Dr. Conway 'accrued'." He cited "CP 218-19, 528-529" as support for that assertion. Those pages of the Clerk's Papers, however, consist of arguments made in his *briefing* to the trial court, not to any testimony or other *evidence*.

Second, Mr. Falsberg plainly was *not* disabled on April 4, 2007, in light of the evidence of record, *i.e.*, Mr. Falsberg's own testimony about what he did on April 4 and about his phone conversation with Dr. Conway that day. Although the Court of Appeals did not quote the testimony, Mr. Falsberg testified that, when he got up on April 4, 2007, he "didn't feel great," and later that morning he fell in his real estate broker's office after reviewing with the broker, line by line, a 20-page real estate contract. CP 504-06. That afternoon, he was still able to call Dr. Conway's office:

- Q. Okay. So let's talk about the April 4th telephone call.
- A. All right.
- Q. Who called it, him?
- A. Me ... I called his office.
- Q. And when you called his office, did you get ahold of him right away or did he call you back?

- A. My recollection is that he called me back. He was good at that.
- Q. Okay. And then when he called you back, what did you tell him?
- A. I told him I had flu-like symptoms, I had blurred vision, I had dizziness. I had actually I believe I fell down I fell I know I fell down in my broker's office.
- Q. Okay.
- A. And he said hey, you been drinking all night, which I thought was funny but but that's what I recall.

CP 494-95.⁵ After the April 4 phone conversation with Dr. Conway, Mr. Falsberg halved his dosage of Lamictal as instructed. CP 232 (¶ 8), 494. It was not until the next day, April 5, 2007, that Mr. Falsberg's wife found him "slumped over the computer with a high fever and a rash on his neck, running down and covering his back" and took him to the Swedish Physicians Clinic in Ballard,⁶ where he was not even hospitalized but rather was treated and released to home. CP 227, 232 (¶ 9).⁷

⁵ It is undisputed, as the Court of Appeals noted, Falsberg, 2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 2110 at *2, that Dr. Conway had told Mr. Falsberg in February 2007 that, "in rare instances, a rash may develop from taking Lamictal, and that he should stop taking it right away if he saw a rash." CP 489-91. On April 4, Mr. Falsberg chose to describe his symptoms – not including a rash, which he either did not yet have or had on his back but had not noticed, CP 495 and 1058 (¶ 8) – by phone rather than see Dr. Conway or another health care provider to be examined.

⁶ Mrs. Falsberg testified by declaration that those events occurred on April 6, CP 227 (¶ 9), but the amended complaint alleges that they occurred on April 5, CP 28 (¶ 2.8), CP 49 (¶ 14.8), and Dr. Conway's answer admits that the Swedish medical records (which are not of record) indicate they occurred on April 5. CP 82 (¶ 2.8).

⁷ It was on April 6 that Mr. Falsberg was taken back to the Swedish/Ballard emergency room, transferred to the ICU at Swedish First Hill, diagnosed with Stevens-Johnson Syndrome and Toxic Epidermal Necrolysis ("SJS/TEN"), and transferred to the Harborview Medical Center burn unit, where he remained from April 7 until July 10, spending much of that time in a drug-induced coma. CP 232 (¶¶10-11).

Mr. Falsberg acknowledged in his brief to the Court of Appeals, *App. Br. at 18*, that to be "incompetent or disabled" for purposes of RCW 4.16.190(1), a person must have "a significant risk of personal harm based upon a demonstrated inability to adequately provide for nutrition, health, housing, or physical safety [quoting RCW 11.88.020(1)(a)]." No reasonable jury could have found Mr. Falsberg disabled under that definition on April 4, when, within a few hours after having reviewed a 20-page contract line by line, he received from Dr. Conway the dosage-reducing instructions that he was able to follow, after which he remained able, even the next day, to sit down to work at a computer.

The trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly determined that Mr. Falsberg was not disabled on April 4, 2007, the last date when Dr. Conway provided allegedly negligent treatment. Under RCW 4.16.350(3), that was when the three-year limitations period began to run. April 4, 2007, was more than three years before Mr. Falsberg filed this suit against Dr. Conway on July 12, 2007, even after giving Mr. Falsberg the benefit of the 95-day extension afforded by the notice of intent provision of RCW 7.70.100(1), see Laws of 2007, ch. 119, §1. Thus, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of Mr. Falsberg's medical malpractice claims against Dr. Conway on statute of

⁸ See footnote 4, supra.

limitations grounds. Mr. Falsberg does not demonstrate in his petition for review that any RAP 13.4(b) criteria for reviewing the "no dispute of fact" determinations are met.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review insofar as it pertains to Dr. Conway should be denied.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 4th day of December, 2013.

WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC

Mary H. Spillane, WSBA #1198

Daniel W. Ferm, WSBA# 11466

Attorneys for Respondent Jack S. Conway, M.D.

Two Union Square 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 628-6600

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington that on the 4th day of December, 2013, I caused a true and correct copy of the foregoing document, "Answer to Petition for Review by Respondent Jack S. Conway, M.D.," to be delivered in the manner indicated below to the following counsel of record:

Counsel for Petitioner: Ken W. Masters, WSBA #22278 MASTERS LAW GROUP, PLLC 241 Madison Ave. N. Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 Ph: (206) 780-5033 Fx: (206) 842-6356 Email: ken@appeal-law.com	SENT VIA: ☐ Fax ☐ ABC Legal Services ☐ Express Mail ☑ Regular U.S. Mail ☑ E-file / E-mail
Counsel for Petitioner: Lish Whitson, WSBA #05400 Kristy L. Stell, WSBA #39986 LISH WHITSON, PLLC 2121 Fifth Ave Seattle, WA 98121-2510 Ph: (206) 892-2164 Fx: (206) 892-2246	SENT VIA: ☐ Fax ☐ ABC Legal Services ☐ Express Mail ☑ Regular U.S. Mail ☑ E-file / E-mail
Email: lish.whitson@whitsonlaw.kristy.stell@whitsonlaw.co Counsel for Petitioner: James Leventhal Benjamin I. Sachs LEVENTHAL BROWN & PUGA 950 S. Cherry St., Suite 600 Denver, CO 80246 Ph: (303) 759-9945 Fx: (303)759-9692 Email: jim@leventhal-law.com	<u>SENT VIA</u> : ☐ Fax ☐ ABC Legal Services

bsachs@leventhal-law.com

Counsel for Petitioner: Andrea B. Dalton Law Office of Andrea B. Dalton 600 17th St., Suite 2800S Denver, CO 80202 Ph: (303) 571-9778 Fx: (303) 988-2243 Email: adalton@daltonlawwllc.com	SENT VIA: ☐ Fax ☐ ABC Legal Services ☐ Express Mail ☑ Regular U.S. Mail ☑ E-file / E-mail
Co-counsel for Respondent Dr. Conway: John C. Graffe, WSBA # 11835 Alison H. Grennan, WSBA # 32820 JOHNSON GRAFFE KEAY MONIZ & WICK, LLP 925 4th Ave Ste 2300 Seattle, WA 98104-1145 Ph: (206) 223-4770 Fx: (206) 386-7344 Email: johng@jgkmw.com alison@jgkmw.com	SENT VIA: ☐ Fax ☐ ABC Legal Services ☐ Express Mail ☑ Regular U.S. Mail ☑ E-file / E-mail
Counsel for Respondents GlaxoSmithKline: John W. Phillips, WSBA # 12185 PHILLIPS LAW GROUP PLLC 315 5th Ave S Ste 1000 Seattle, WA 98104-2682 Ph: (206) 382-6163 Fx: (206) 382-6168 Email: jphillips@jphillipslaw.com	SENT VIA: ☐ Fax ☐ ABC Legal Services ☐ Express Mail ☑ Regular U.S. Mail ☑ E-file / E-mail
Counsel for Respondents Glaxo\$mithKline: Brian P. Johnson, Pro Hac Vice JOHNSON, TRENT, WEST & TAYLOR, LLP 919 Millam, Suite 1700 Houston, TX 77002 Ph: (713) 222-2323 Fx: (713) 222-2226 Email: bjohnson@johnsontrent.com	SENT VIA: ☐ Fax ☐ ABC Legal Services ☐ Express Mail ☑ Regular U.S. Mail ☑ E-file / E-mail

DATED this 4th day of December, 2013, at Seattle, Washington.

Carrie A. Custer, Legal Assistant



1 of 2 DOCUMENTS

DAVID A. FALSBERG, Appellant, v. GLAXOSMITHKLINE, PLC, ET AL., Respondents.

No. 68264-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION ONE

2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 2110

September 9, 2013, Filed

NOTICE: RULES OF THE WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS MAY LIMIT CITATION TO UNPUBLISHED OPINIONS. PLEASE REFER TO THE WASHINGTON RULES OF COURT.

SUBSEQUENT HISTORY: Reported at Falsberg v. GlaxoSmithKline, PLC, 2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 2157 (Wash. Ct. App., Sept. 9, 2013)

PRIOR HISTORY: [*1]

Appeal from Superior Court King County. Docket No(s): 10-2-13102-7 SEA. Judgment or other matter being reviewed: (1) Order Granting Def Conway's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. (2) Second Amended Order Granting Def Conway's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. (3) Order on Motion for Reconsideration. (4) Order Granting Def GlaxoSmithLine Motion for Summary Judgment. Judge signing: The Honorable May I. Yu. Date entered: (1) 6/24/11. (2) 7/25/11. (3) 7/25/11. (4) 1/12/12.

DISPOSITION: Affirmed.

COUNSEL: Counsel for Appellant(s): Kenneth Wendell Masters, Masters Law Group PLLC, Bainbridge Island, WA; Lish Whitson, Kristy Lee Stell, Lish Whitson PLLC, Seattle, WA; James Leventhal, Benjamin I. Sachs, Leventhal, Brown & Puga, PC, Denver, CO.

Counsel for Respondent(s): John Coleman Graffe Jr., Alison H. Grennan, Johnson, Graffe, Keay, Moniz & Wick, LLP, Seattle, WA; Mary H. Spillane, Daniel W. Ferm, Williams Kastner & Gibbs, Seattle, WA; John Wentworth Phillips, Phillips Law Group PLLC, Seattle, WA.

JUDGES: AUTHOR: Verellen, J. WE CONCUR: Spearman, A.C.J., Cox, J.

OPINION BY: Verellen

OPINION

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